FILED 07/01/2024

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 24-0205

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 24-0205

IN THE MATTER OF:

L.A.O.-B.,

YOUTH IN NEED OF CARE.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

On Appeal from the Montana Fourteenth Judicial District, Mussellshell County, the Honorable Randal Spaulding, Presiding.

Appearances:

SHANNON HATHAWAY

Hathaway Law Group 401 Washington Street Missoula, MT 59802 Phone: (406) 201-9660

shannon@hathaway-lawgroup.com

AUSTIN KNUDSEN

Montana Attorney General

KATIE SCHULZ

Assistant Attorney General Appellate Services Bureau

215 N. Sanders P.O. Box 201401

Helena, MT 59820-1401

ADAM LARSEN

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

- I. Whether the Department failed to provide Mother with reasonable efforts to reunify her and the child as is statutorily required and whether, given this lack of efforts, the District Court abused its discretion in finding Mother was unlikely to change in a reasonable time.
- II. Whether the District Court abused its discretion and violated Mother's constitutional right to statutorily fair procedures in the case involving her parental rights when it did not follow proper timelines.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

K.O. (Mother) appeals the Fourteenth Judicial District Court's

(District Court) Order terminating her parental rights her daughter, L.A.O.
B. (D.C. Doc. 147) (Attached as *Appendix A*). The Department of Child and
Family Services (the Department) filed a Petition for Emergency Protective
Services (EPS) and Temporary Investigative Authority (TIA) on December
7, 2021. (D.C. Doc. 1.) The affidavit of Child Protection Specialist (CPS)
Christopher Hildebrant alleged physical neglect of L.A.O.-B. by Mother.
Specifically, there were concerns about Mother's erratic behavior and drug
use. When interviewed by the CPS, Mother admitted to using
methamphetamine and stated she had been sober until the suicide of L.A.O.
B.'s father in June, when she relapsed. (D.C. Doc. 1, see *Affidavit*.)

A Show Cause Hearing on this Petition was scheduled for December 27, 2021. (D.C. Doc. 2.) On December 23, 2021 the Department filed a Motion to Continue due to counsel having not yet been assigned to Mother. (D.C. Doc. 9.) The District Court continued the Show Cause Hearing to January 11, 2022. (D.C. Doc. 10.) On January 10, 2022 the Department again filed a Motion to Continue on the basis that Mother had still not been appointed counsel. (D.C. Doc. 11.) The District Court reset the Show Cause again, this time for February 7, 2022. (D.C. Doc. 12.) On January 21, 2022 a Notice of Appearance on Mother's behalf was finally filed. (D.C. Doc. 13.)

Mother was present at the Show Cause Hearing on February 7, 2022. At this hearing, the Department updated it would be amending its Petition from one for TIA to one requesting adjudication of the child as youth in need of care (YINC) and temporary legal custody (TLC) and asked for additional time to file the new Petition. (D.C. Doc. 15.) In response, Mother's attorney requested additional time to talk with Mother about this plan to amend petition to one for TLC. (2/7/22 Hearing Transcr. at 4:15-17.) Additionally, Mother's counsel expressed concern about the length of time the case had been pending without a proper Show Cause Hearing. (2/7/22 Hearing Transcr. at 4:23-5:4.) In response, the Court stated it did not believe it had the authority to deny the Department additional time to amend and file

its Petition and due process required Mother be given time to consult with her counsel about the changes to the Petition. (2/7/24 Hearing Transcr. at 5:22-6:12.) The Court did not discuss Mother's due process rights to be heard in a timely manner or the Department's mandate to follow statutory timeframes.

A full week later, on February 14, 2022, the Department finally filed its Petition for EPS, Adjudication as YINC and TLC (Amended Petition). The Amended Petition alleged that TLC was necessary because following the child's emergency removal, CFS conducted further investigation and found safety concerns with Mother's parenting. During this time, Mother had been voluntarily providing urinalysis drug tests to the Department and tested positive for methamphetamine and amphetamines on October 21, 2021, November 24, 2021, and December 8, 2021. Mother also submitted a diluted specimen on December 22, 2021. CFS was also made aware of an incident in November where Mother was cleaning a gun, and the child accessed the gun, pulled the trigger and discharged the gun in the home. (D.C. Doc. 17.) The Court set a hearing on the *Amended Petition* for February 22, 2022. (D.C. Doc. 18.)

Mother was not present at this hearing, but her attorney notified the Court of her plan to stipulate to the *Amended Petition*. Mother hoped to have

continued visitation and work with the Department to be reunified with her child. (D.C. Doc. 19, 2/22/22 Hearing Transcr. at 3:16:20.) CPS Hildebrandt provided testimony in support of the *Amended Petition* and noted that Mother had been willing to work with the Department since the inception of the legal case back in December of 2021. (2/22/22 Hearing Transcr. at 10-11.) On February 24, 2022, the District Court issued an Order Adjudicating as YINC and Granting TLC based on Mother's stipulation. (D.C. Doc. 20.)

It was not until June 20, 2022, four months later, that the Department filed its Motion to Approve and Order Mother's Treatment Plan (*Treatment* Plan). (D.C. Doc. 24.) The District Court granted this Motion and approved the Treatment Plan on June 21, 2022. (D.C. Doc.25.) Mother's treatment plan required her compliance with the following tasks: taking a parenting class, attending parenting time, following the recommendations of the child's providers, ensuring the child's safety while in her care, and attending the child's appointments. Mother was also required to complete a chemical dependency evaluation and follow any recommendations, remain sober and comply with drug testing, as well as developing a relapse prevention and safety plan. Mother was also asked to complete a mental health evaluation and follow the recommendations, engage in individual therapy, and attend anger management classes. Mother also needed to find safe and stable

housing, and inform the Department of any housemates and changes of address. Mother also needed to secure employment or other source of income. Mother was required to report any contact with law enforcement to the Department and comply with the terms of the Order of Protection in place between she and the child's placement. Lastly, Mother was to remain in weekly contact with her CPS and sign any necessary releases of information. (D.C. Doc. 25, see attached.)

On August 23, 2022, one day after the expiration of TLC, the Department filed a Petition for Extension of TLC (Extension Petition), stating Mother needed additional time to complete her *Treatment Plan*. (D.C. Doc. 31.) CPS Michaela Viviano outlined Mother's progress in the supporting affidavit. Mother had not yet completed her parenting class but was signed up to take one. Mother had not yet completed a chemical dependency evaluation. Mother had been testing positive for methamphetamines on her recent drug patches and had not submitted a relapse prevention plan and safety plan to CPS. CPS had also not received records indicating that Mother had completed a mental health evaluation or engaged counseling, although Mother reported that she was seeing a counselor through the Mental Health Center. Mother had not yet enrolled in anger management. (D.C. Doc. 31, see *Affidavit*.) A hearing on the

Extension Petition was not scheduled for October 17, 2022, two months past the expiration of TLC. (D.C. Doc. 32.)

On October 12, 2022, the Department filed a Motion to Continue the hearing on the *Extension Petition* because the CPS was unavailable for the October 17 hearing. (D.C. Doc. 36.) The District Court then continued the hearing to October 31, 2022. (D.C. Doc. 37.) Mother was present at this hearing and stipulated to the extension of TLC without agreeing to all the facts alleged in the affidavit supporting the *Extension Petition*. (10/31/22 Hearing Transcr. at 4-5.) Mother also requested that the Court place L.A.O.-B. back in her care while she continued to work on her treatment plan. (10/31/22 Hearing Transcr. at 7-8.)

CPS Viviano testified that Mother had been on the drug patch and there were recently positives for THC and one for meth. CPS Viviano also had not received have any documentation that Mother had completed chemical dependency evaluation. (10/31/22 Hearing Transcr. at 19:3-18.) However, since she had drafted her supporting affidavit, CPS Viviano had received information that Mother completed a mental health evaluation and was engaged in individual therapy. (10/31/22 Hearing Transcr. at 30:14-24.) Mother was also in the process of completing her parenting classes and the reports to CFS were that she was doing well in both those parenting classes

and her visits with the child. (10/31/22 Hearing Transcr. at 22:17-23:4.) In response, Mother argued that she had tested positive for methamphetamines because she drove with someone who had been using and she had obtained her medical marijuana card recently in order to legally use marijuana. (10/31/22 Hearing Transcr. at 45-46.) Based on Mother's stipulation, the District Court extended TLC for another six months. (D.C. Doc. 40.)

A Motion for Approval of the Permanency Plan was filed by the Department on January 4, 2023. (D.C. Doc. 41.) The proposed permanency plan for L.A.O.-B. was reunification with Mother. (D.C. Doc. 41, see Affidavit.) A hearing on the motion was set for January 31, 2023. (D.C. Doc. 42.) Mother was present at this hearing and read a statement to the District Court about her currenting living situation, her work on her treatment plan, her employment situation and her visits with her child. (1/31/23 Hearing Transcr. at 14-17.) CPS Viviano also provided testimony.

CPS Viviano struggled with testifying about various aspects concerning Mother's treatment plan, including her current status in her chemical dependency tasks, mental health tasks, employment and housing. It also appeared CPS Viviano was waiting for Mother to provide her with records, instead of seeking them out herself. (1/31/23 Hearing Transcr. at 22-23, 29:8-13.) Both the Guardian ad Litem (GAL) for the child and

Mother's attorney argued that it was well past time for the case to move forward and for unsupervised visitation to begin. Specifically, the GAL noted the case had been going on for 16 months with no discussion about unsupervised time. (1/31/23 Hearing Transcr. at 26-27.) Similarly, Mother's attorney argued that unsupervised visits needed to start right away and in their own proposed permanency plan the Department stated reunification would be possible within six months. But, at the rate the case was moving, that was not likely. (1/31/23 Hearing Transcr. at 34:21-35:13.)

The GAL also expressed frustration at not receiving updates through discovery regarding Mother's progress on her treatment plan or the Department's efforts. In response, the District Court stated its agreement, noting,

... at the end of the day this case has gone on perhaps longer than it should have. Presumption that termination is in the best interest of the child has arisen. I gather that the department has concluded that that's not an appropriate request at this time as evidenced by their previous request for continued temporary legal custody approved by the Court, and ultimately their permanency plan which still contemplates reunification with the child. Nonetheless, it is concerning that that amount of time has gone by, and the presumption has arisen with little documentation or evidence submitted to apparently counsel or the Court regarding what's appropriate for the child here.

(1/31/23 Hearing Transcr. at 40:8-22.) The Court also admonished CPS Viviano to be more active in obtaining confirmation about Mother's work on her treatment tasks. (1/31/23 Hearing Transcr. at 43.) The District Court

approved the proposed permanency plan of reunification based on Mother's stipulation. (D.C. Doc. 49.)

Less than five months later, despite the Court's instruction to move toward reunification, the Department filed a Petition for Termination of Parental Rights (TPR). The basis for termination of Mother's parental rights was her failure to successfully complete her treatment plan and unlikelihood to change in a reasonable time. Additionally, the Department based its request for termination on the fact that "the child has been in out-of-home foster care under the physical custody of the state since October 4, 2021, therefore, the child has been in foster care for over 15 of the most recent 22 months and the best interests of the child must be presumed to be served by termination of parental rights." (D.C. Doc. 50.)

CPS Viviano's supporting affidavit outlined Mother's lack of progress on her treatment plan and the Department's continued concerns about Mother. CPS Viviano alleged Mother struggled to keep L.A.O.-B. safe during unsupervised visitation and was putting unrealistic expectations on a three-year-old. Mother's attendance in mental health counseling was not consistent and Mother had followed recommendations with regard to her chemical dependency tasks. Mother also did not keep the Department informed of her contact with law enforcement as required by her treatment

plan. She had been given three tickets she did not update CPS on. CPS Viviano's final statement was that "[o]verall, Mother's Treatment Plan was unsuccessful because Mother did not take her treatment plan seriously. She did not follow up with providers and follow recommendations and continues to deny wrongdoings and blame others for her child's removal by the Department." (D.C. Doc. 50, see *Affidavit*.) The District Court set a hearing on the *TPR* for May 23, 2023. (D.C. Doc. 51.)

On May 12, 2023, Mother filed Mother's Petition to Replace Court Appointed Attorney. Mother alleged that her attorney was providing her ineffective assistance of counsel. (D.C. Doc. 64.) In Mother's supporting affidavit she alleged that her attorney did not communicate with her, failed to notify her of court hearings, did not go over her treatment plan with her but encouraged her to sign it anyway and was not calling witness or otherwise advocating for Mother in court hearings as Mother had requested. (D.C. Doc. 64, see *Affidavit*.) Mother also filed a motion to continue the termination hearing to allow the Court to rule on her Petition and for Mother to secure new counsel if necessary. (D.C. Doc. 65.) Mother's attorney had also filed an Unopposed Motion to Continue the Termination Hearing because he was unavailable on the date set for the hearing. (D.C. Doc. 67.) Additionally, Mother's counsel filed his Response to Mother's Petition to

Replace Court Appointed Attorney. In this Response, counsel denied being ineffective and attached numerous email correspondence between his office and Mother. (D.C. Doc. 67.)

The District Court filed Orders regarding these numerous pleadings on May 17, 2024. Firstly, the Court continued the hearing on the TPR to July 7, 2023. (D.C. Doc. 48.) The District Court also issued its Order Directing Mother's Counsel to Respond To Allegations in Mother's Affidavit and Order Preserving Counsel From Discipline and/or Claims Of Malpractice. In this Order the District Court found that *Gallagher* hearings were not appropriate in civil proceedings. Instead, the Court used the two-prong effectiveness of counsel test and stated the Court knew of Mother's attorney experience in handling dependency-neglect cases but did not have sufficient evidence regarding the second prong of effective advocacy. Thus, the District Court requested that Mother's attorney divulge confidential information related to this prong, as Mother has waived her right to confidentiality by filing her Petition to obtain new counsel. (D.C. Doc. 69.)

Mother's counsel filed his Second Response to Birth Mother's

Petition to Replace Court Appointed Attorney on June 6, 2023. In this

Response he provided the Court a timeline of his communications with

Mother, as well as additional copies of their email communications. He also

discussed the decisions he had made in his representation of Mother and his attempts to call witnesses she requested be called. (D.C. Doc. 72.) On June 21, 2023, Mother filed, *pro se*, Mother's Motion to Continue the Termination Hearing. She requested the hearing be again continued so she could secure alternate counsel. (D.C. Doc. 76.) The District Court granted this Motion on June 29, 2023, and continued the hearing on the *TPR* to September 5, 2023. (D.C. Doc. 77.)

On the same day, the District Court issued an Order Denying Mother's Petition to Replace Court Appointed Counsel. The Court found that Mother had not provided sufficient evidence that her attorney had not been an effective advocate. Specifically, the Court stated, "[c]onsidering the matter in its totality and in light of the non-exclusive factors identified by the Supreme Court, this Court concludes that [Mother's attorney] is eminently qualified through education, training, and experience to represent the Mother in the instant proceedings. Moreover, based upon the court's observations in open court as well as the documentation supplied, [Mother's attorney] has appropriately investigated the case, timely and sufficiently met with Mother to the extent permitted by Mother, is familiar with the law applicable to the case, appropriately called relevant and appropriate witnesses identified by Mother, appropriately cross-examined witnesses called by the State, and

objected when appropriate." The Court concluded that given this, Mother's attorney's representation had been appropriate and effective. (D.C. Doc. 78.) Mother filed a Motion to Reconsider, but this was denied by the District Court due to her failure to raise any new or relevant information. (D.C. Docs. 79 and 83.)

On August 24, 2023, Mother's counsel filed a Notice to the Court stating he had received letter from Mother claiming L.A.O.-B.'s father was Native American, either Sioux or Crow. Thus, Mother's counsel was requesting this possibility be investigated by the Department to determine if the Indian Child Welfare Act (ICWA) did, in fact, apply to the proceedings. (D.C. Doc. 82.) In response to this Notice the District Court issued an Order Continuing Hearing on CFS's Petition for Termination of Parental Rights and Permanent Legal Custody Pending Notification to Indian Tribes, and reset the hearing to November 14, 2023 to allow the Department time to comply with ICWA. (D.C. Doc. 84.)

On November 2, 2023, Mother filed a Partially Unopposed Motion to Continue Termination Hearing. The basis for this Motion was that Mother's counsel had a medical appointment on that date, as well as a district court criminal jury trial beginning on November 15, 2023. (D.C. Doc. 87.) The Department filed a Response to Mother's Motion to Continue Termination

Hearing the next day, objecting to any further continuance of the hearing. (D.C. Doc. 88.)

The District Court issued its Order Granting Mother's Partially

Opposed Motion to Continue Termination Hearing on November 8, 2023. In

granting Mother's Motion, the Court acknowledged that the hearing had

been outstanding for quite some time, but noted the Court had personal

knowledge that counsel's appointment was a of "critical nature" and could

not be missed. The Court reset the hearing for November 17, 2023. (D.C.

Doc. 94.)

Following this, Mother attempted to continue the hearing two additional times, one on November 15 because the Department was still determining ICWA eligibility and the other on November 16 so Mother could develop an "opposition letter". (D.C. Docs. 104, 114.) The Department filed a Response to the first *Motion* in which it stated it had not received any responses from various Sioux tribes showing that L.A.O.-B. was enrolled or eligible for enrollment in any of them. (D.C. Doc. 105.) The Department later filed these responses with the Court, as well as a Motion for Order Determining Applicability of ICWA. (D.C. Docs. 105 and 115.) The District Court denied both of Mother's Motions and the termination hearing began on November 17, 2023. (D.C. Docs. 106 and 114.)

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