# FILED

#### 07/31/2024

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 24-0205

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 24-0205

IN THE MATTER OF,

L.A.O.-B.,

A Youth in Need of Care.

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

On Appeal from the Montana Fourteenth Judicial District Court, Musselshell County, The Honorable Randal I. Spaulding, Presiding

#### **APPEARANCES:**

AUSTIN KNUDSEN
Montana Attorney General
CORI LOSING
Assistant Attorney General
215 North Sanders
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59620-1401
Phone: 406-444-2026
Cori.losing@mt.gov

ADAM M. LARSEN Musselshell County Attorney 506 Main Street Roundup, MT 59072

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

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Mother cannot establish that she was prejudiced by her show cause hearing being continued or by her treatment plan being approved more than 30 days after the dispositional hearing. First, the district court was required to twice continue the show cause hearing because OPD had not yet appointed Mother counsel, and the district court properly found that good cause supported continuing the show cause hearing a third and final time to February 22, 2022. At the final setting of the show cause hearing, Mother ultimately stipulated to emergency protective services, adjudicating the child as a youth in need of care, and temporary legal custody.

Second, Mother did not object to her treatment plan, which she signed, being approved more than 30 days after the district court granted the Department temporary legal custody. Nor did the district court's delayed approval result in Mother not receiving services. In fact, Mother was engaged in chemical dependency testing, counseling services, and receiving regular visitation.

Accordingly, the district court did not violate Mother's right to due process when it conducted a show cause hearing and approved her treatment plan outside of the statutory timeframes.

Nor did the district court abuse its discretion when it terminated Mother's parental rights after concluding Mother's conduct or condition was unlikely to change in a reasonable time. The Department engaged Mother in services for over two years. Yet, Mother continued to miss visits with L.A.O.-B. and never completed chemical dependency treatment, even though chemical dependency and Mother's inconsistent parenting were both reasons that led to Department involvement.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

This Court's review of whether a parent was denied her right to due process is plenary. *In re C.B.*, 2019 MT 294, ¶ 13, 398 Mont. 176, 454 P.3d 1195.

This Court reviews for abuse of discretion a district court's decision to termintate a person's parental rights. *In re Z.N.-M.*, 2023 MT 202, ¶ 10, 413 Mont. 502, 538 P.3d 21. The district court abuses its discretion when it acts "arbitrarily, without conscientious judgment, or in an unreasonable fashion that results in substantial injustice." *Id*.

This Court reviews the district court's factual findings to determine if they are clearly erroneous. *Id.* A factual finding is clearly erroneous if it is not supported by substantial evidence, if the court misapprehended the effect of the evidence, or if review of the record convinces the Court a mistake was made. *Id.* This Court reviews for correctness the district court's conclusions of law. *C.B.*, ¶ 13.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The district court did not violate Mother's due process rights by conducting a show cause hearing and approving a treatment plan outside of the statutory deadlines.

Mother contends that the district court abused its discretion when it terminated her parental rights because two statutory timelines were not adhered to during the pendency of L.A.O.-B.'s case. (Appellant's Br. at 24.)

The right to the care and custody of a child is a fundamental liberty interest, so "[f]undamental fairness and due process require that a parent not be placed at an

unfair disadvantage during the termination proceedings." *In re A.N.W.*, 2006 MT 42, ¶ 34, 331 Mont. 208, 130 P.3d 619. The "[k]ey components of a fair proceeding are notice and an opportunity to be heard." *In re C.J.*, 2010 MT 179, ¶ 27, 357 Mont. 219, 237 P.3d 1282. "[T]he process that is due in any given case varies according to the factual circumstances of the case and the nature of the interests involved." *In re D.B.J.*, 2012 MT 220, ¶ 27, 366 Mont. 320, 286 P.3d 1201. Due process "is a flexible concept which must be tailored to each situation in such a way that it meets the needs and protects the interests of the various parties involved." *In re B.P.*, 2001 MT 219, ¶ 31, 306 Mont. 430, 35 P.3d 291 (internal quotations and citations omitted). "For a parent to establish a claim for violation of due process, he or she must demonstrate how the outcome would have been different had the alleged due process violation not occurred." *C.B.*, ¶ 18.

Mother asserts two statutory timelines that were not complied with. First, Mother contends that her due process rights were violated by the district court not conducting a show cause hearing for over two months after the Department filed its initial petition. (Appellant's Br. at 26.) Second, Mother argues her due process rights were violated because the district court did not approve Mother's treatment plan until nearly four months after the district court adjudicated L.A.O.-B. as a youth in need of care and granted the Department temporary legal custody. (*Id.* at 28.) Mother, however, only objected, and therefore preserved, the challenge to the

delay in the show cause hearing. Nonetheless, Mother cannot establish a due process violation for either statutory untimeliness claim.

# A. Mother cannot establish that the show cause hearing being conducted outside the 20-day deadline violated her right to due process.

Montana Code Annotated § 41-3-432(1)(a) requires a show cause hearing be "conducted within 20 days of the filing of an initial child abuse and neglect petition" unless, in relevant part, "an extension of time is granted by the court." A district court is authorized to "grant an extension of time for a show cause hearing only upon a showing of substantial injustice and shall order an appropriate remedy that considers the best interests of the child." Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-432(1)(c).

Here, the district court set the show cause hearing within 20 days of the Department's initial petition being filed. The Department then had to move to continue the show cause hearing, twice, due to Mother not being appointed counsel. At the February 7, 2022 show cause hearing, the Department informed the district court that it intended to amend its initial petition to a petition for emergency protective services, adjudication of the child as a youth in need of care, and temporary legal custody. (2/7/22 Tr. at 3-4.) In response, Mother's counsel stated:

Well, that's what concerns me, Your Honor, I guess at this time. We've been out here for a while, and the matter has been continued a couple times by the State. Now we're asking for more time. I guess that just concerns me about the delay and where we're at at this point I guess.

(2/7/22 Tr. at 4-5.) The district court continued the show cause hearing, explaining, in relevant part:

Due process would further dictate that the mother have an opportunity to receive a copy of that paperwork and review it together with any discovery with her counsel to decide whether she wants a contested hearing or to stipulate or something in between.

That being the case, I do find good cause to continue, and will continue the matter as requested.

(2/7/22 Tr. at 6.) The district court ultimately conducted the show cause hearing on February 22, 2022. (2/22/22 Tr.)

To the extent the above expressed concerns amount to an objection, Mother cannot establish that the district court violated her due process rights by continuing the show cause hearing because good cause existed. *See* Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-432(1). First, the district court initially set the show cause hearing within the statutorily required 20 days. *See C.B.*,¶20. Second, the district court would have violated Mother's due process rights by conducting the show cause hearing on the December 27, 2021 or January 11, 2022 settings, because Mother, at that time, had not been appointed counsel despite the district court's order requesting OPD to appoint counsel. (*See* Docs. 9-12.)

Even so, Mother has not established that the show cause hearing within 20 days would have resulted in an outcome other than her parental rights being

terminated. Nor can Mother establish that the untimeliness of the show cause hearing prejudiced her. For all but one month of the time between when the initial petition was filed and the show cause hearing occurred, L.A.O.-B. remained in the home with Mother pursuant to an in-home safety plan. Moreover, Mother ultimately stipulated to the relief requested in the Amended Petition at a hearing that she had notice of the opportunity to be heard. *See C.B.*, ¶ 18. Mother's due process claim is without merit.

B. Mother cannot establish that the district court approving her signed treatment plan more than 30 days after the district court granted temporary legal custody violated her right to due process.

In support of her argument, Mother cites Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-437, asserting that the treatment plan must be ordered within 20 days after adjudication. (Appellant's Br. at 28.) Mother's reliance on Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-437, however, erroneously conflates the disposition hearing with approval of the treatment plan. *See* Mont. Code Ann. §§ 41-3-438, -443. Instead, treatment plans must be ordered within 30 days of the dispositional hearing except for good cause shown. Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-443(7). Accordingly, here, the district court granting temporary legal custody on February 22, 2022 triggered the 30-day treatment plan deadline.

Although Mother's treatment plan was approved outside the 30-day treatment plan deadline, Mother signed her treatment plan without mention of any

objection or concerns of the treatment plan being approved by the district court outside the statutory timeframe. In doing so, the district court was precluded from concluding whether good cause excused the delay or not. Mother's decision to stipulate to the treatment plan and not to challenge the delay likewise precludes her from challenging the delay on appeal. *See In re A.A.*, 2005 MT 119, ¶ 26, 327 Mont. 127, 112 P.3d 993.

However, even if this Court reviews Mother's claim, Mother cannot establish that her right to due process was violated by her formal treatment plan not being approved until four months after the district court granted the Department temporary legal custody. Mother, before her treatment plan was approved, was enrolled in urinalysis drug testing, receiving visitation, and began counseling services, all of which were tasks required in her treatment plan. Once her treatment plan was approved, Mother was enrolled in parenting classes, started in chemical dependency treatment, and had obtained a chemical dependency evaluation. And, ultimately, the Department's evidence of Mother's inability to successfully complete her court ordered treatment plan<sup>13</sup> does not focus on the delay between granting temporary legal custody and approving the treatment plan. Instead, the evidence presented was from before the case was initiated throughout the two

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Notably, Mother does not challenge the district court finding that Mother did not successfully complete her treatment plan.

years it was pending, which established the increasing concerns the Department had regarding Mother's ability to safely parent L.A.O.-B. Simply put, Mother has not established that the district court violated her right to due process.

# II. The district court did not abuse its discretion when it terminated Mother's rights.

Montana Code Annotated § 41-3-609 sets forth the criteria available to the district court to terminate a parent's right to maintain the care and custody of their child. To terminate a parent's rights to a non-Indian child pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-609(1)(f), the district court must find that clear and convincing evidence establishes that: (1) the child was adjudicated as a youth in need of care; (2) the parent had not successfully completed an appropriate treatment plan approved by the district court; and (3) the parent's conduct or condition "rendering them unfit is unlikely to change within a reasonable time."

On appeal, Mother challenges only the district court's determinations that her conduct or condition rendering her unfit to parent was unlikely to change in a reasonable period of time.<sup>14</sup> (Appellant's Br. at 38.) This Court reviews "the evidence in the light most favorable to the prevailing party when determining

 $<sup>^{14}</sup>$  Mother accordingly has waived review of the district court's remaining conclusions of law. *See* M. R. App. P. 12(3); *State v. Myran*, 2012 MT 252, ¶ 19, 366 Mont. 532, 289 P.3d 118.

whether substantial credible evidence supports the district court's findings." *In re J.B.*, 2016 MT 68, ¶ 10, 383 Mont. 48, 368 P.3d 715 (citation omitted).

Montana Code Annotated § 41-3-609(1)(f)(ii) requires the district court to find that a parent's conduct or condition rendering them unfit to parent is unlikely to change within a reasonable amount of time. As part of that determination, the district court must find that "continuation of the parent-child legal relationship will likely result in continued abuse or neglect or that the conduct or the condition of the parents renders the parents unfit, unable, or unwilling to give the child adequate parental care." Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-609(2). When making this determination, the district court must give primary consideration to the "physical, mental, and emotional conditions and needs of the child." Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-609(3). In addition, the district court shall consider the non-exhaustive list of factors codified at Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-609(2).

The inquiry is not "whether a parent has made progress or would make some progress in the future." *In re A.B.*, 2020 MT 64, ¶ 27, 399 Mont. 219, 460 P.3d 405. Rather, the district court must answer "whether the parent is likely to make enough progress within a reasonable time to overcome the circumstances rendering [the parent] unfit to parent." *Id.* In answering this question, the district court remains "required to assess the past and present conduct of the parent. [District

courts] do not have a crystal ball to look into to make this determination, so it must, to some extent, be based on a person's past conduct." *Id*.

The district court did not err when it concluded that the conduct or condition rendering Mother unfit to parent was unlikely to change within a reasonable amount of time. Notably, the in-home safety plan was terminated and L.A.O.-B. was removed from Mother's care, based in part on Mother choosing to be absent from the home, and L.A.O.-B., for a period of 20 days. Throughout the 2 years of the case, Mother missed numerous visits with L.A.O.-B. And, although a few of Mother's absences were excused, most of the absences were unexcused, and included choosing to attend a funeral out of town instead of spending time with L.A.O.-B. and not being able to attend a visit because Mother's hand felt numb. Mother's cancellations were often last minute. Other times, Mother would arrive late for visits, including showing up 45 minutes late to the visit on L.A.O.-B.'s birthday because Mother overslept.

L.A.O.-B. showed signs of notable distress when her Mother cancelled or was late attending the visits. L.A.O.-B. would also behave in controlling and aggressive ways towards her peers following Mother cancelling the visits.

(See 12/7/23 Tr. at 13, 77.) And at times, L.A.O.-B. thought Mother was lying about being sick to miss the visits. In other words, Mother's inconsistent visitation

attendance, which Mother admitted to, had a detrimental effect on L.A.O.-B.'s wellbeing.

Throughout the case, Mother also failed to address her sobriety. The Department became involved with Mother and L.A.O.-B. after Mother admitted to using methamphetamine when she was transported to a hospital in Livingston after being seen running in and out of traffic on Interstate 90. L.A.O.-B., who was two, was with Mother at the time. Despite Mother's history of substance abuse, Mother reported her friend tricked her into using methamphetamine.

From October 2021 to October 2022, Mother had a series of urinalysis or sweat patches test positive for methamphetamine. Mother tested positive for methamphetamine around the time L.A.O.-B., who again was only two, managed to pull the trigger of a hunting rifle in Mother's hands, which caused a bullet to go through a wall, TV, and a window. Also, while Mother was using methamphetamine, she was cited for an altercation with Grandmother, that occurred when L.A.O.-B. was present.

After Mother began testing negative for methamphetamine, Mother tested positive for THC for a series of tests between October 2022 and February 2023. Mother admitted to using marijuana when law enforcement approached her in her vehicle that was parked on state land that she was not allowed to access onto.

Later, Mother was terminated from sweat patch testing because Mother did not return to have her February 2, 2023 patch removed.

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